RECEIVED

OCT 11 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeal

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

CASE NO.: 2010-CP-10-00482
APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2016-000281

Anchorage Plantation Homeowners Association Respondent,

v.

John B. Walpole and Theodora W. Walpole Appellants

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Charles S. Altman
Meredith L. Coker
ALTMAN & COKER, LLC
575 King Street, Suite A
Charleston, South Carolina 29403
Tel: (843) 853-9907
Fax: (843) 722-5702
Attorneys for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in finding that Respondent had proper standing to bring suit?
2. Did the trial court err in finding the Easement Agreement invalid?
3. Did the trial court err in its failure to apply the statute of limitations to bar the relief requested by Respondent?
4. Did the trial court err in its failure to apply the equitable defenses of waiver, laches, and estoppel to bar the relief requested by Respondent?
5. Did the trial court err in failing to consider Appellants' affirmative defense of unjust enrichment?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The matter before this Court arises from a declaratory judgment action relating to the validity and enforceability of an easement and is, therefore, neither solely legal nor equitable. The standard of review depends upon the nature of the underlying issues. Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009). The case was tried before a judge without a jury; this Court's scope of review is limited to correction of errors of law, and factual findings are reviewed for any evidence which supports the trial court's finding. See Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976) ("In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings."); Myers v. Nat'l Sales Ins. Co., 362 S.C. 41, 44, 606 S.E.2d 486, 488 (Ct. App. 2004); Osterneck v. Osterneck, 374 S.C. 573, 577, 649 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 2007) ("In a law case tried by the judge without a jury the standard of appellate review is limited to a correction of errors of law and a determination if there is any evidence to support the factual findings of the trial judge."). In equitable actions, an appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. Denman v. City of Columbia, 387 S.C. 131, 140, 691 S.E.2d 465,

470 (2010). "When legal and equitable actions are maintained in one suit, each retains its own identity as legal or equitable for purposes of the applicable standard of review on appeal."

Kiriakides v. Atlas Food Sys. & Servs., Inc., 338 S.C. 572, 580, 527 S.E.2d 371, 375

(Ct.App.2000) (citing Corley v. Ott, 326 S.C. 89, 92, n. 1, 485 S.E.2d 97, 99, n. 1 (1997)).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 20, 2010, Respondent Anchorage Plantation Homeowners Association (hereinafter Respondent or HOA) brought suit for a declaratory judgment and injunction with regard to certain easements granted to Appellants John B. Walpole and Theodora W. Walpole (hereinafter Appellants or Walpoles). (R. pp. 40-146). The easement at issue in this matter is that certain Easement Agreement granted to the Walpoles by Southern Lifestyles VIII, LLC, recorded November 8, 2001, in Book K387 at Page 751 in the RMC Office for Charleston County, as amended by that certain Amended Easement Agreement recorded June 17, 2002, in Book K409 at page 481 in the RMC Office for Charleston County. Said easements are collectively referenced herein as the "Easement." (R. pp. 684-692). Appellants filed their answer, asserting several affirmative defenses, on April 27, 2010. (R. pp. 147-153). By consent of the parties and Order entered February 15, 2013, J. William Edings Walpole, Jr., was appointed Guardian ad Litem for John B. Walpole for purposes of litigation, and substituted as the real party in interest.

The trial of this matter commenced on February 26, 2013, before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington sitting as the trier of fact. (R. pp. 197-359). At the conclusion of the Respondent's case in chief, the trial was recessed in order for the parties to voluntarily pursue settlement of the claims. When the negotiations proved unsuccessful, Judge Harrington reconvened trial on June 21, 2013. (R. pp. 360-415). During the testimony of one of Appellants' witnesses, the trial was

recessed. Judge Harrington then directed the parties to conduct formal mediation in an effort to resolve the dispute. When mediation again proved unsuccessful, the parties consented to the remainder of the trial be heard by this Court, pursuant to Rule 63, SCRPC, as Judge Harrington was unable to schedule the trial to conclusion. The Honorable R. Markley Dennis reviewed the prior trial transcripts and concluded trial on August 21, 2015. (R. pp. 416-496).

The trial court entered its Order in favor of Respondent on November 3, 2015. (R. pp. 1-38). On November 10, 2015, Appellants filed their Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied by Order entered February 8, 2016. (R. pp. 497-499; R. p. 39). Appellants filed the Notice of Appeal on February 17, 2016. (R. pp. 154-196).

FACTS

The history of the ownership and development of Anchorage Plantation was undisputed by the parties and supported by public record. In 1980, the Walpoles purchased over One Thousand Acres of real property located on Wadmalaw Island, South Carolina, known as Anchorage Plantation. (R. pp. 500-503). The property is situated between Maybank Highway and Bohicket Creek. In 1997, the Walpoles recorded a final Plat for Phase I of Anchorage Plantation, which included a roadway from Maybank Highway and across Anchorage Plantation known as Anchor Watch Drive. (R. pp. 504-505). The Walpoles further recorded an initial Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions applicable to Phase I. (R. pp. 506-524).

On January 11, 2000, the Walpoles entered into a Purchase Agreement for Real Estate with Southern Lifestyles VIII, LLC (hereinafter “Developer”) for the sale of Phase I and an additional 278 acres, known as Phase II. (R., pp. 545-558). The contract includes an option for Southern Lifestyles to purchase what is referred to as the “Option Property,” which is the

remaining roughly 779 acres of the Walpole Property (“Phase III”). (R. p. 550). The contract further provides an explicit reservation of an easement to the Walpoles for access over the roadways and to the boat ramp and dock, which reservation survived the sale consummation:

Purchaser agrees to provide Seller access to Bohicket Creek over the community boat ramp and courtesy dock located in Phase II until such time as Purchaser closes on the purchase of the Option Property. Seller shall have the right to use any road within the Property and the Option Property for the purposes of ingress and egress to properties owned or leased by Seller.

(R. p. 552).

On June 16, 2000, Phase II, including 69 home site parcels and the community dock and boat ramp, was made subject to the Declaration of Covenants. The parcels comprising Phases I and II were also conveyed to Developer by deed recorded on June 16, 2000. (R. pp. 565-569). In July 2000, the Developer recorded a Second Amended Declarations of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions and organized Anchorage Plantation Homeowners Association, Inc. (R. pp. 576-652). In December 2000, the Walpoles and the Developer entered into a contract for the purchase of Phase III. The December 2000 contract explicitly incorporated the earlier easement into its terms. (R. pp. 661-671). The intent of Developer and the Walpoles was for Developer to develop the entirety of Anchorage Plantation, with all lots having access to the streets and amenities in Phases I and II, however, Developer did not complete the development of Phase III. The purchasers from the Walpoles would have the intended access and use of the streets and amenities, however, Developer was unable to consummate the purchase of Phase III. As a result of negotiations between the Walpoles and Developer, the parties recorded an Easement Agreement setting forth the rights of access reserved in the purchase agreements. (R. pp. 688-

692). Said Easement Agreement, recorded on November 8, 2001, gave the Walpoles and their heirs and assigns (hereinafter “Walpoles”) the right to access and use the private roads, community dock, and community boat landing located within Phases I and II. (R. pp. 688-692). The easement was later amended by Amended Easement Agreement recorded June 17, 2002. (R. pp. 693-697). At the time of the recording of the Easement to the Walpoles, Developer was the owner of record of the roadways and the community dock parcel.

At the time of the sales of Phase I and Phase II to third parties from Developer, Anchor Watch Drive spanned across Phase I and Phase II, terminating in a cul de sac situated on the adjoining Walpole property. (R. pp. 698-703). There also existed Anchor Line Drive, an additional roadway turning off of Anchor Watch Drive toward the Walpole property. (R. pp. 709-716). Anchor Line Drive is paved until its abrupt terminus at the Walpole property line. (R. pp. 709-716). The community boat ramp, originally constructed by the Walpoles, was also in place at that time. (R. pp. 698-703).

In December 2002, the HOA was turned over to the individual homeowners from Developer, and the roadway parcel was conveyed by deed from Developer to the HOA on January 13, 2003. (R. pp. 704-708). The boat ramp and dock parcel was conveyed (along with any remaining common areas) by deed from Developer to the HOA on July 29, 2003. (R. pp. 717-721). Both deeds were made “subject to all easements of record.” (R. pp. 704-708).

During this same period, the Walpoles submitted an application for a Planned Unit Development for Phase III based on Developer’s plans for the property. On February 5, 2004, Thomas L. Harper, Jr., as counsel for the POA, sent correspondence to the Walpoles’ attorney, inquiring as to certain issues relating to the proposed Phase III development, including the use of

the roadways in Phases I and II. (R. pp. 771-772). In response, the Walpoles' counsel provided Harper with copies of the recorded easements on or about February 13, 2004. (R. p. 773). The planned development district was approved by Charleston County and County Council, which approval was appealed by Respondent and an adjoining landowner on March 18, 2004. No allegation was made with regard to the Walpoles' intent to utilize the roadways situated in Phase I and II. (R. pp. 774-776). Eventually the proposed development was overturned by the South Carolina Supreme Court on procedural grounds unrelated to the proposed use of the roadways. The case at bar was filed one (1) day prior to oral argument before the South Carolina Supreme Court relating to the planned development district.

The Walpoles submitted a subdivision application for six (6) lots known as Phase III, which received final approval after the required public notice. At all times relevant to the underlying suit, Phase III consisted of the said six (6) lots, situated on either side of Anchor Watch Drive with access to the parcels through and along Anchor Watch Drive.

ARGUMENTS

I. RESPONDENT DID NOT HAVE STANDING TO BRING AND MAINTAIN THE LAWSUIT, AS RESPONDENT BOARD MEMBERS DID NOT HAVE PROPER AUTHORITY TO BRING SUIT.

As a necessary preliminary matter, the trial court failed to address and rule on the matter of standing of the Respondent to bring the suit below. In order to achieve proper standing to bring the suit, the Respondent Board of Directors must have had the requisite authority to act. The powers of the Respondent and its Board are controlled by the Declaration, pursuant to the S.C. Non-Profit Corporation Act. The Covenants and By-Laws explicitly set forth the procedure necessary for certain legal action. (R. pp. 621-622). Respondent proffered testimony in the trial

court below as to damages ultimately sustained by individual homeowners, and not the POA, such as increased assessments and a lack of notice in the chain of individual lots.

The Respondent President admitted at trial that no vote of the homeowners was taken to authorize the institution and prosecution of the suit below. (R. p. 349; pp. 352-353). The Board agreed that approval of the individual members would be necessary, but such approval ultimately was not sought (R. pp. 751-758). There is no evidence of any meeting of the homeowners in which the institution of this litigation was approved, nor of any motion made at any meeting relating to the lawsuit. The HOA Board informally discussed, via electronic mail, approval of the final Complaint, but no meeting minutes exist approving or discussing the commencement of litigation. On the other hand, Respondents requested enough days recess to discuss settlement in order to hold a special meeting of the individual members. (R. pp. 346-347). That the Board knew it required approval of the membership prior to resolving the litigation belies its position at trial that the suit could be brought and maintained without such approval. Because the Board failed to seek and obtain the approval of the membership to act, the Board lacks the proper authority and standing to bring the underlying suit. Moreover, Respondent complained at trial of damages allegedly suffered by the individual homeowners, such as increased assessments, for which Respondent had no authority to claim on behalf of the individuals. (R. p. 341).

II. THE EASEMENT AGREEMENT IS VALID AND ENFORCEABLE.

“[T]he determination of the existence of an easement is a question of fact in a law action.” Smith v. Commissioners of Pub. Works of City of Charleston, 312 S.C. 460, 465, 441 S.E.2d 331, 334 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing Jowers v. Hornsby, 292 S.C. 549, 551, 357 S.E.2d 710, 711 (1987)). “The scope of an easement is an equitable matter The language of an easement

determines its extent. ‘Clear and unambiguous language in grants of easement must be construed according to terms which parties have used, taken, and understood in [the] plain, ordinary, and popular sense.’ Binkley v. Rabon Creek Watershed Conservation Dist. of Fountain Inn, 348 S.C. 58, 67, 558 S.E.2d 902, 906-07 (Ct. App. 2001) (citations omitted). “Thus, this court must construe unambiguous language in the grant of an easement according to the terms the parties have used. ‘The general rule is that the character of an express easement is determined by the nature of the right and the intention of the parties creating it.’” Plott v. Justin Enterprises, 374 S.C. 504, 513-14, 649 S.E.2d 92, 96 (Ct. App. 2007) (internal footnotes omitted); Binkley v. Rabon Creek Watershed Conserv'n Dist., 348 S.C. 58, 67, 558 S.E.2d 902, 906-07 (Ct.App.2001); S.C. Pub. Serv. Auth. v. Ocean Forest, Inc., 275 S.C. 552, 554, 273 S.E.2d 773, 774 (1981); Smith v. Comm'rs of Pub. Works of City of Charleston, 312 S.C. 460, 467, 441 S.E.2d 331, 336 (Ct.App.1994).

In the instant case, Appellants explicitly reserved the rights to access the roadways and boat ramp parcel within the January 2000 contract to sell the property to Developer. Section 10 of said contract states:Purchaser agrees to provide Seller access to Bohicket Creek over the community boat ramp and courtesy dock located in Phase II until such time as Purchaser closes on the purchase of the Option Property. Seller shall have the right to use any road within the Property and the Option Property for the purposes of ingress and egress to properties owned or leased by Seller.

By the terms of the January 2000 contract, this provision survived closing of Phases I and II. In addition, this reservation of right was explicitly incorporated in the December 2000 contract to purchase Phase III. The contracts created a valid and binding obligation on the part of Developer to grant access to Appellants (Seller above) until such time as Developer consummated the purchase of Phase III. Said purchase never occurred. As Developer and Appellants continued to

negotiate the purchase of Phase III, and as a term and condition of said negotiation, Developer and Appellants entered into an Easement Agreement, which Easement was recorded on November 8, 2001, in the RMC Office for Charleston County, South Carolina. Thereafter, Developer and Appellants entered into an Amended Easement Agreement, which Easement was recorded on June 17, 2002.

The Easement expressly provides for an “easement over the roads and streets [in Phases I and II] for the purposes of ingress and egress . . .” and “to use the community boat ramp and courtesy dock located [in Phase II] for the purpose of access to Bohicket Creek.” The Easement references the contractual obligations to provide access set forth in the purchase and sale agreements. Furthermore, the Easement explicitly states that “the Grantor is aware that Grantee may subdivide their property located adjacent to the property owned by the Grantor and that the purchasers of the Grantee’s property or any portion thereof shall have the rights granted herein.” The Amended Easement Agreement adds explicitly that “[t]he rights granted hereunder are appurtenant to the land, shall run with the land and are for the benefit of Grantees, their heirs and assigns.”

Developer was the legal owner of record of the roadways and boat ramp parcel at all times relevant to the granting of the Easement. The Burdened and Benefitted Properties are clearly set out in the Easement, the rights and purposes for the same are explicitly delineated, and even the intention of the parties is explicitly set forth therein. The clear and unambiguous language of the Easement must therefore be construed to allow Appellants access over the roadways in Phases I and II, and to the boat ramp and dock. A duly recorded easement valid and regular on its face is presumed valid. See, e.g., Davis v. Monteith, 289 S.C. 176, 182, 345 S.E.2d

724, 727 (1986); Avant v. Johnson, 231 S.C. 119, 123, 97 S.E. 2d 396, 397 (1957).

Respondent, nevertheless, contends that the granting of the Easement by Developer was in breach of the terms of the Second Amended Declaration of Covenants (hereinafter “Covenants”), filed of record at the time of the granting of the Easement. Respondent asserts that this breach should render the Easement and rights granted thereunder void or voidable.

[C]ovenants have been defined as “agreement[s] ... to do, or refrain from doing, certain things with respect to real property.” 20 Am.Jur.2d Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions § 1 (2005). Therefore, covenants, “in a sense are contractual in nature and bind the parties thereto in the same manner as would any other contract.” Id. (citing Seabrook Island Prop. Owners Assoc. v. Pelzer, 292 S.C. 343, 356 S.E.2d 411 (Ct.App.1987)). Restrictive covenants are construed like contracts and may give rise to actions for breach of contract. 17 S.C. Jur. Covenants § 2 (2005) (citing Hoffman v. Cohen, 262 S.C. 71, 202 S.E.2d 363 (1974) and Manning v. City of Columbia, 297 S.C. 451, 377 S.E.2d 335 (1989)). Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 361, 628 S.E.2d 902, 913 (Ct. App. 2006). “Restrictive covenants are to be strictly construed, with doubts resolved in favor of a free use of property.” Butler v. Sea Pines Plantation Co., 282 S.C. 113, 120, 317 S.E.2d 464, 468 (Ct. App. 1984) (*citations omitted*). Moreover, in interpreting restrictive covenants, ambiguities must be strictly construed against the party seeking to enforce them. Sea Pines Plantation Co. v. Wells, 294 S.C. 266, 270, 363 S.E.2d 891, 893–94 (1987); Seabrook Island Prop. Owners Assoc. v. Marshland Trust, Inc., 358 S.C. 655, 662, 596 S.E.2d 380, 383 (Ct.App.2004). “A restriction on the use of property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication” Taylor v. Lindsey, 332 S.C. 1, 5, 498 S.E.2d 862, 864 (1998); see also Kinard v. Richardson, 407 S.C.

247, 257-58, 754 S.E.2d 888, 894 (2014).

Respondent proffered testimony from Elizabeth Settle, who was designated as an expert witness without objection. Ms. Settle testified, and her notes reflected, that the wording of the Covenants contained “bad language,” was “ambiguous at best,” and raised questions relating to the powers of Developer to grant access to the common areas. (R. pp. 242-243; pp. 279-285). It was only later, after reviewing the Covenants multiple times and discussing the issue of Respondent’s preferred construction of the Covenants again with Respondent’s counsel, that she came to the conclusion Developer did not have the right to convey the Easement. She further testified that the rights of ownership and access to the common areas set forth in Section 2.3 of the Covenants were neither clear nor unambiguous. It is, however, within the trial court’s purview to review the four corners of the Covenants. The Covenants provide each individual homeowner non-exclusive access to the roadways and boat ramps in Section 6.2, subject to additional terms in the Covenants, including Section 2.3. There is no evidence that the grant of the Easement to the Walpoles is exclusive to them, nor that the HOA and individual homeowners do not have access to the roadways and boat ramp parcel. The Covenants do not explicitly prohibit Developer from the conveyance of the Easement, and Respondent’s interpretation of the Covenants merely evinces an ambiguity in the wording, which ambiguity necessarily must be construed against Respondent. Moreover, ample evidence was presented from both Respondent and Appellants that the intent of Developer was to further develop Phase III, which development would have had access to the roadways and boat ramp.

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