THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2016-000281

RECEIVED

OCT 12 2016

SC Court of Appeals

ANCHORAGE PLANTATION
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN B. WALPOLE AND THEODORA
W. WALPOLE

Appellants..

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

G. Trenholm Walker (SC Bar #005777)
P.O. Drawer 22247
Charleston, SC 29413-2247
Tel: 843-727-2208
Fax: 843-727-2231
E-mail: gtw@p-tw.com
Attorney for Respondent, Anchorage
Plantation Homeowners Association

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

The Association established, and I find, that the board approved this litigation and that the members have been kept abreast of it. The Association did not establish that 75% of the members approved the suit by referendum or vote at a duly authorized meeting. However, that omission does not mean the Association has no standing or authority to bring this action.

As stated in the terms of Section 14.4, its 75% vote requirement does not apply to litigation where the amount in controversy does not exceed \$25,000. Here, the Association is not seeking damages of any amount. The relief sought is declaratory and injunctive. Hence, the conditions of Section 14.4 do not apply.

Even if Section 14.4 were considered applicable, its terms exclude "(a) actions brought by the Association to enforce the provisions of this Declaration...." In this action the Association seeks to enforce the provisions of the Restated Declaration that, among other things, did not authorize the Declarant to grant the easement in question to the Walpoles and that reserves the common areas to "common use and enjoyment of the Declarant, Owners, and their respective guests, and invitees, as well as third parties with easements in and to such Common Areas, as herein provided." Plaintiff's Exhibit 10, Restated Declaration, p. 2, R.p.584. No vote of the members was required.

Section 11.2.2 (g) of the Restated Declaration specifically authorizes the Association: "To take any and all actions necessary to enforce these and all covenants and restrictions affecting the Property and to perform any of the functions or services delegated to the Association in any covenants or restrictions applicable to the Property..." Plaintiff's Exhibit 10, Restated Declaration, p. 29, R.p.611

I find and conclude the Association has standing and authority to bring this action.

The Court also notes that the Walpoles are third parties for purposes of the Restated Declaration and, as such, lack standing under both the controlling statutes and case law to assert that the initiation of the suit is *ultra vires* under the provisions of the Restated Declaration.

S.C. Code Section 33-31-304 provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b), the validity of corporate action may not be challenged on the ground that the corporation lacks or lacked power to act.

(b) A corporation's power to act may be challenged in a proceeding against the corporation to enjoin an act where a third party has not acquired rights. The proceeding may be brought by the Attorney General, a director, or by a member or members in a derivative proceeding.

S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-304.

The Walpoles do not come within the limited category of persons described in section 33-31-304(b) who may challenge the authority of the Association to bring this action.

This statute is in keeping with legal precedent that an outsider has no standing to challenge whether an adverse party was authorized to bring an action under its governance documents. DeBorde v. St. Michael & All Angels Episcopal Church, 272 S.C. 490, 501, 252 S.E.2d 876, 881 (1979) ("Petitioners contend that this grant is not broad enough to permit respondent's operation of a cemetery for the benefit of its parishioners. The simple answers to this contention are twofold: (1) this issue was not raised by the complaint; and, (2) **even had it been, petitioners, not being members of the Parish, have no standing to raise it.**" (emphasis added)). The Walpoles, not being members of the Association, have no standing to assert that the maintenance of this proceeding is not authorized under the provisions of the Restated Declaration. Indeed, the Restated Declaration expressly denies them standing. As previously found and discussed, section 16.12 of the Restated Declaration excludes the Walpoles from enforcing any provisions of the Restated Declaration: "...**no adjoining property owner or third party will have any right, title or interest whatsoever** in the Development, except as provided herein, or in the operation or continuation thereof **or in the enforcement of any of the provisions hereof, ...**" Plaintiff's Exhibit 10, Section 16.12, R.p.628.

R.pp.30-32 (emphasis in original).

The Walpoles have failed to assert, much less show, that the lower court's determination that Section 14.4 of the Restated Declaration did not require a vote of the members since this action fell within two exceptions - not seeking damages and seeking to enforce the terms of the Restated Declaration - is unsupported or legally erroneous. Similarly, the Walpoles have not addressed the legal conclusion that the Walpoles had

no standing to raise the issue under S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-304 and the precedent of DeBorde v. St. Michael & All Angels Episcopal Church, supra, much less established that these separate legal holdings were erroneous. For these reasons, the trial court did not commit error in rejecting the Walpole's defense that the Association lacked standing to bring this action.⁶

- III. The statute of limitations in S.C. Code §15-3-530 (1) and (3) does not apply to this action and, therefore, does not bar it.

The lower court determined that the Association's equitable claims were not barred by the statute of limitations. R.pp.32-34. On appeal the Walpoles argue that the Association's causes of action are barred under S.C. Code §15-3-530 that imposes a three year statute of limitations for the following:

- (1) an action upon a contract, obligation, or liability, express or implied, excepting those provided for in Section 15-3-520;
* * *
- (3) an action for trespass upon or damage to real property;

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1) and (3).

Neither applies.

The Association did not bring a claim for breach of contract against the Walpoles. There is no contract between the Association and the Walpoles. The Easement was

⁶ The Walpoles argue that the Association's need to consult with the membership about a settlement shows that the members needed to authorize this action before it was brought. App. Brief at 7. Not true. Section 14.4 deals with the bringing of litigation, not the settlement of litigation. The meeting of the members referenced by the Walpoles during a break in the trial was necessary to consider any settlement that involved consideration of granting a right to use any of the common areas under Section 15.4 (f) of the Restated Declaration. Plaintiff's Exhibit 10, Sec. 15.4, R.p.622 (the vote of at least 67% of the members of the Association is necessary to grant any "Rights to use Common Areas and Limited Common Areas.")

entered between Southern Lifestyles and the Walpoles. The Association was not a party to it, even though Southern Lifestyles purported to grant a right to use its common areas.

The Association brought this action to clear and quiet its title to the common areas by seeking a determination that the Easement was invalid. One of the grounds for the Easement's invalidity was that the Restated Declaration encumbered the common areas at the time the Easement was executed and it did not empower Southern Lifestyles, the Declarant, to grant the easement.

The Restated Declaration is in the nature of a contract among the Association and its owner members. Snow v. Smith ex rel. Stoudenmire, supra at 250 ("Restrictive covenants are construed like contracts and may give rise to actions for breach of contract."). But, since the Walpoles are not members, there is no legal theory of a contract with them based on the Restated Declaration. Further, as already shown, the Association asserted and prevailed upon alternative grounds for the invalidation of the Easement that were not grounded on the limitations of the Declarant's rights in the Restated Declaration.

As to the second section of the statute relied upon by the Walpoles, the Association's complaint did not assert a cause of action for "for trespass upon or damage to real property." Because the Association did not assert a cause of action for either breach of contract or trespass or injury to real property, neither subsections that provide the basis for the Walpole's appeal on the statute of limitations apply.

Although not pertinent to the ruling by this Court, the Walpoles incorrectly assert that the Association would have had record notice of the Easement when it was first recorded in 2001 since it was in its chain of title. However, the Easement was not in the chain of title of the Association at that time. The Easement makes no reference to the

Restated Declaration, and Southern Lifestyles had not yet conveyed the dedicated common areas to it. As for the property owners in the Association, the Easement is outside the chain of title of over 50 of the 74 owners who took title to their lots from Southern Lifestyles before it recorded the Easement.

The Association would also point to the additional separate reasons why the Association's claim is not barred by the statute of limitations that were set forth by the lower court in its discussion of the question in the Order under I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (S.C. 2000) ("The appellate court may review respondent's additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court's judgment."). These additional sustaining grounds were ruled upon by the trial court and not appealed by the Walpoles, thereby requiring affirmance of the lower court's ruling on limitations set forth in the following:

Turning to the statute of limitations, the Walpoles assert that this action is time barred because as early as March 18, 2004, a lawyer for the Association was on notice of the easement and asserted it was ineffective for being in violation of the provisions of the Restated Declaration. Defendant's Exhibit 3, Letter of Harper dated March 18, 2004, R.pp.774-776. The Walpoles assert the Association should have brought this lawsuit within the three year statute of limitations set forth in section 15-3-530 of the South Carolina Code, applicable to "Actions *Other* Than for the Recovery of Real Property." (emphasis added). By its terms, this particular statute of limitations does not apply.

This action falls under the provisions of S. C. Code §15-67-10 entitled "Recovery of Real Property" that provides as follows:

Any person in possession of real property, by himself or his tenant, or any person having or claiming title to vacant or unoccupied real property may bring an action against any person who claims or who may or could claim an estate or interest therein or a lien thereon adverse to him for the

purpose of determining such adverse claim and the rights of the parties, respectively.”

S.C. Code §15-67-10.

The statute of limitations for the “recovery of real property” is ten years. Section 15-3-340 of the South Carolina Code, applicable to “Actions for Recovery of Real Property,” requires simply that a party seeking to bring an action for the recovery of real property bring suit within 10 years of his possession of such property: “No action for the recovery of real property . . . may be maintained unless it appears that the plaintiff, his ancestor, predecessor, or grantor, was seized or possessed of the premises in question *within ten years before the commencement of the action.*” (emphasis added). This action is timely since the Association is still in possession of, and holds title, to the Association’s common areas.

The Court further notes that because this is an action in equity the statute of limitations does not apply. Dixon v. Dixon, 362 S.C. 388, 400, 608 S.E.2d 849, 855 (2005); Mazloom v. Mazloom, 382 S.C. 307, 675 S.E.2d 746 (S.C. Ct. App. 2009).

R.pp.32-34.

For these reasons, this Court should deny the Walpoles’ appeal based on limitations and affirm the lower court’s ruling on the issue.

IV. The Association’s claims are not barred under the equitable doctrines of laches or estoppel.⁷

The lower court correctly held the Association’s claim was not barred by laches or estoppel.

In their brief the Walpoles argue that the initiation of this suit by the Association in 2010 was somehow inconsistent with its previous position on the Easement and that the

⁷ Although Argument heading No. IV in the Walpoles’ brief refers to the defenses of waiver, laches, and estoppel, the text of the argument refers only to the defenses of laches and estoppel. App. Brief at 15 (“Respondent’s claims in equity are barred by the doctrines of laches and estoppel.”).

Walpoles somehow relied on this inconsistency to their detriment. This assertion is not supported by the facts.

The Association has consistently maintained that the Easement is invalid since learning of it. The Walpoles admitted into evidence letters in a battle between lawyers for the Association and the Walpoles over the legitimacy of the Easement starting on February 5, 2004. Defendants' Exhibits 1, 2, 3, and 4, R.pp.771-779. In the first letter for the Association dated February 5, 2004, the lawyer for the Association specifically asserted that the Easement was invalid under the terms of the Restated Declaration. Defendants' Exhibit 4, R.pp.771-772, ("I ... do not believe that Mr. Walpole (or the owner of the Walpole Property) has the right either to enter onto Anchorage Plantation for the development of the Walpole Property, or to connect the roads on the Walpole Property to the current roads in Anchorage Plantation for use by the owner(s) of the Walpole Property.").

Later, the lawyer for the Association objected in writing to the application of the Walpoles to subdivide the 778 acres into six parcels on this same basis. In his letter to the planning director for Charleston County dated March 7, 2005, opposing the subdivision application, the lawyer for the Association asserted that the Easement was invalid and ineffective because "[t]he Declaration did not reserve to the Developer the right to grant the access easement to the Walpoles set forth in the Walpole Easement Agreement." Defendants' Exhibit 15, R.p.1021.

The Association has been consistent in its position over the years that the Easement is invalid. The Walpoles were aware of this position through the letters of the Association's lawyer and discussions with representatives of the Association. The

Walpoles had the burden of proof on their affirmative defenses and failed to show by the preponderance of the evidence that the Association relinquished its position on the invalidity of the Easement or misrepresented its position on the Easement or that the Walpoles somehow relied on a misrepresentation of the Association as to its position to their detriment.

The Walpoles' efforts in rezoning and subdividing the 778 acres after Southern Lifestyles did not close were not in reliance on anything the Association said or did but were in furtherance of their effort to develop the property. These steps were taken either before the Association became aware of the Easement or after the Association communicated its position to the Walpoles as to the invalidity of the Easement. Southern Lifestyles, not the Walpoles, prepared the master site plan for the development of Phase III that included roads and amenities at a time when it hoped to close on the 778 acres and add them to the Association through supplemental declaration. Defendant's Exhibit 16 (Engineered Site Plan of Phase III by Southern Lifestyles dated August 27, 2001), R.p.1022. Moreover, this site plan preceded the execution of the Easement by more than two months.

The facts of this case are not similar at all to those in Janasik v. Fairway Oaks Villas Horizontal Property Regime, 307 S.C. 339, 415 S.E.2d 384 (1992), cited by the Walpoles. There the horizontal property regime and its management company were aware of the member's construction activities for at least four years before making their first objection to them on the basis they were not allowed under the governing documents. 415 S.E.2d 388. Here the Association lodged its objection to the Easement soon after learning of it and has consistently maintained its position.

The Walpoles have failed to establish that the following findings of the lower court are without evidentiary support or that the following conclusions constituted an error of law:

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